#### **Distribution Agreement**

In presenting this thesis as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for a degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter now, including display on the World Wide Web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis.

Abhijay Mudigonda

March 20, 2023

Engineering Armored CAR T Cells to Secrete Functional VIPR Antagonist

by

Abhijay Mudigonda

Sarwish Rafiq, PhD Adviser

Chemistry

Sarwish Rafiq, PhD

Adviser

Edmund Waller, PhD

Committee Member

Khalid Salaita, PhD

**Committee Member** 

2023

# Engineering Armored CAR T Cells to Secrete Functional VIPR Antagonist

By

Abhijay Mudigonda

Sarwish Rafiq, PhD

Adviser

An abstract of a thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Bachelor of Science with Honors

Chemistry

2023

#### Abstract

# Engineering Armored CAR T Cells to Secrete Functional VIPR Antagonist By Abhijay Mudigonda

While CAR T cells have proven to be an effective treatment option for cancers the therapy still faces many roadblocks, such as solid cancers. One such solid tumor is pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC), which is resistant to many treatments, and expected to increase by over two-fold in the next ten years.<sup>25</sup> The tumor microenvironment (TME) of PDAC is highly immunosuppressive and T cell infiltration is sparse. The VIP/VIPR axis has been studied as a targetable immune checkpoint pathway where antagonization of VIPR presents a possible strategy to increase T cell infiltration into the PDAC TME. This project presents the use of a type of armored CAR T cell that can secrete a VIP receptor (VIPR) antagonist to help retain T cell function in the immunosuppressive cancer microenvironment of PDAC. Here, we use an engineered CAR T cell that secretes the VIPR antagonist bound to Gaussia luciferase to monitor the ability of the armored CAR T cell to secrete the antagonist into the extracellular compartment as well as to validate its binding ability through measuring luminescence. Using these methods, we were able to detect Gaussia luciferase secreted into the extracellular space. We also confirmed that the binding of the VIPR antagonist to the VIPR was not disrupted by Gaussia. The peptide was also validated to be the correct size through a western blot. The results strongly support the hypothesis that our engineered armored CAR T cells can secrete the VIPR antagonist and that the antagonist can bind to T cells. With this confirmation, further studies could analyze if the secreting CAR T cells can help increase T cell infiltration in PDAC models, and Gluc can be used to monitor localization in mouse models.

Engineering Armored CAR T Cells to Secrete Functional VIPR Antagonist

By

Abhijay Mudigonda

Sarwish Rafiq, PhD

Adviser

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Bachelor of Science with Honors

Chemistry

2023

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge and thank my advisor, Dr. Rafiq, for all her patience, guidance, and support throughout the honors thesis process. I would like to thank her for helping me navigate the thesis process and being not only an advisor for the thesis but for my life and career as well. I will forever be grateful for all that she has taught me. I would also like to thank my mentor, Heather Lin, who has dedicated many hours of her life to mentoring me throughout my research career in the lab. She was never too busy to help me when I needed it most, and she showed me what it means to be good scientist. I will never forget the lessons I learned under her mentorship. I would also like to thank all the members of the Rafiq lab for their collaboration, kindness, and unconditional support for me and for each other throughout our research and life.

# Table of Contents

Introduction	1
CAR T Cells	1
Figure 1	2
Problems with Solid Tumors	3
Armored CAR T Cells	4
Figure 2	4
Pancreatic Cancer	5
Figure 3	6
Vasoactive Intestinal Peptide	7
Figure 4	8
Engineering Armored CAR T Cells to Secrete VIPR Antagonist	8
Figure 5	9
Figure 6	10
Figure 7	11
Figure 8	12
Materials and Methods	13
Experimental Conditions	13
Transfection into H29 and Transduction into 293galv9	13
Generation of CAR T cells	14
Validating Peptide Secretion Through Luminescence Assay	15
Using Luminescence to Detect Binding	16
Nickel Purification and Western Blot	17

Results	18
Figure 9	18
Figure 10	19
Figure 11	20
Discussion	21
Transduction of CAR T Cells	21
Luminescence Assay	22
Binding Assay	24
Western Blot	26
Future Directions	27
Conclusion	28

# 1. Introduction

#### 1.1. CAR T Cells

Cancer therapy had long relied on three main pillars of effective treatment options: chemotherapy, radiation, and surgery. In the past two decades, the treatment landscape has been vastly changed by a fourth pillar: immunotherapy<sup>1-5</sup>. A crucial element of immunotherapy is the use of CAR T cells, which are immune cells taken out of a patient's body and engineered to express cancer-targeting chimeric antigen receptors (CAR). The CAR combines elements of antibody-like binding with T-cell-like signaling. A CAR typically consists of an antibody-like receptor that recognizes tumor antigens, a transmembrane domain, and an intracellular signaling domain<sup>6,7</sup>. The surface receptor of a CAR contains a binding portion that is typically a single-chain variable fragment (scFv), which is derived from the heavy and light chains of an antibody<sup>8</sup>. The intracellular domain includes CD3ζ, a part of a typical T-cell receptor complex<sup>9</sup> which in CAR T cells is fused to the CAR and a costimulatory domain such as CD28<sup>10–12</sup> or 4-1BB<sup>13</sup>. Historically, the first generation of CAR T cells did not contain a costimulatory domain and only had CD3 as the intracellular signaling domain<sup>6</sup>. However, having just CD3ζ for the intracellular domain proved problematic as it could not form a lasting T cell response<sup>14</sup>. The second generation of CAR T cells improved upon this design through the addition of a costimulatory domain, which amplifies the strength and duration of the signal, leading to far greater activation, proliferation, and persistence of CAR T cells<sup>11,12</sup>. Most CAR T cells that have shown clinical efficacy rely on the second-generation platform, but 3rd and 4th generations of T cells combining multiple costimulatory domains are currently under investigation<sup>6</sup> (Figure 1).



# Figure 1: Outline of CAR Design

CARs are composed of multiple domains, including the binding domain, hinge, transmembrane, co-stim, activation, and armor. This figure illustrates engineering strategies used to enhance each domain.

CAR T cells have many advantages over endogenous T cells. While unmodified T cells depend on antigen-presenting cells<sup>16</sup>, one of the advantages of CARs is their ability to recognize antigens without the need for the MHC-antigen-presenting cells<sup>17</sup>. Furthermore, they can recognize different types of antigens such as protein, glycolipid, or carbohydrate<sup>18</sup>. This allows CAR T cells to be highly specific for tumor cells<sup>19</sup>.

CAR T cells work by binding to their target antigen that is presented on the surface of tumor cells. Binding will then result in the secretion of inflammatory cytokines which, along with the recruitment of apoptotic signaling molecules, leads to tumor cell death<sup>5</sup>. CAR affinity must also be carefully controlled, as too little binding will not reach the minimum threshold to induce activation, while too much binding can cause overwhelming cytokine release and immune system overactivation<sup>20,21</sup>. Currently CAR T cells have proven to be

clinically effective in treating hematological malignancies. An example is CD19-directed CAR T cells in the treatment of acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) which target the malignant B cells<sup>19,22</sup>. The use of anti-CD19 CAR T cells also showed positive outcomes in the treatment of chronic lymphoid leukemia<sup>23</sup> and Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma<sup>24–26</sup>.

#### 1.2. Challenges with Solid Tumors

Despite the success of CAR T cells in blood cancers, the therapy still faces roadblocks in usage for other types of malignancies, such as solid cancers, which account for 90% of cancer-related deaths<sup>15</sup>. There are a few properties of solid tumors that contribute to this difficulty. Solid cancers often lack tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) that can be targeted with tolerable toxicities; the antigens presented on these solid tumors are also presented on healthy tissue, which can lead to on-target, off-tumor toxicity (OTOT)<sup>15,27</sup>. The other issue with solid tumors lies in the tumor microenvironment (TME) that surrounds it. The TME is a unique environment that surrounds the proliferating tumor, altering its surroundings to facilitate tumor progression and reduce interference.<sup>28</sup> Among elements in the TME are immune cells, stromal cells, blood cells, and fibroblasts<sup>29</sup>. In some cancer types, these factors can create an environment around the tumor with extensive fibrosis and limited vascularization, making immune cell infiltration difficult<sup>30</sup>. When immune cells can infiltrate the TME, they are inactivated by immune checkpoint proteins expressed by the tumor<sup>15,31</sup>. Numerous techniques are being researched to overcome these roadblocks posed by solid tumors and the TME.

## 1.3. Armored CAR T Cells

One strategy to overcome the problems posed by the TME lies in armored CAR T cells (Figure 2). "Armored" refers to a CAR T cell that has been genetically engineered to express proteins that can protect it from the TME.<sup>32</sup> Compounds that could potentially be secreted are cytokines to promote inflammation, chemokines to direct migration, peptides or antibodies to act as antagonists, and many others.<sup>33</sup>



# Figure 2: Armored CAR T cells can secrete compounds to modulate antitumor response.<sup>33</sup>

A well-studied focus in armored T cell research is the PD-1/PD-L1 system. This system is a common immune checkpoint system present in the TME of many cancer types<sup>34</sup>. Previous work has shown that an armored T cells can be designed to secrete an scFv

that binds to PD-L1 and consequently blocks the binding of PD-1, preventing the inactivation of the T cell by the TME<sup>31</sup>. PD-1 scFv-secreting armored CAR T cells provide encouraging evidence for the multifaceted uses of armored CARs that could potentially secrete peptide antagonists or antibodies to shield the cell from checkpoints pathways and significantly boost infiltration of the TME<sup>33</sup>.

#### 1.4. Pancreatic Cancer

Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) is responsible for more than 90% of pancreatic cancers<sup>35</sup>. Furthermore, PDAC is the fourth most frequent cause of cancer-related deaths in the world; data from 2012-2018 suggest a 5-year survival rate of 11.5%<sup>36</sup>. PDAC incidence is predicted to have more than a two-fold increase in the number of cases within the next 10 years<sup>35</sup>. Treatment options for PDAC are limited. The only curative option available is surgical resection, which is only possible in 10-20% of patients<sup>35</sup>. The other 80-90% of patients present with PDAC that has either metastasized locally or, even worse, to distant tissues.<sup>37</sup> First-line treatment at this point consists mainly of adjuvant and neoadjuvant chemotherapy.<sup>35,38</sup>



PDAC also contains a highly immunosuppressive TME<sup>39</sup> (Figure 3).

(Zheng et al 2020, Nat Rev Clin Oncol)

#### Figure 3: Tumor Microenvironment of PDAC<sup>30</sup>

The PDAC TME is largely composed of desmoplastic stroma, which consists of extracellular matrix and stromal cells, manly cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs), endothelial cells, and immune cells<sup>40</sup>. In extreme cases, this stroma can comprise over 90% of the tumor mass<sup>41</sup>. This creates a solid environment with a high interstitial fluid pressure, making perfusion of therapies and invasion of CAR T cells difficult, as well as hindering checkpoint therapy<sup>42</sup>. The extracellular matrix also contains dysregulated integrin subunits and Hyaluronan, which both aid cancer cell survival and growth<sup>40,43</sup>. While the tumor does present neoantigens<sup>44,45</sup>, it still fails to generate an effective immune response<sup>39</sup>. Due to these factors, the ability to treat the disease has not significantly progressed.<sup>39,46</sup>

#### 1.5. Vasoactive Intestinal Peptide (VIP) in PDAC

VIP is a 28-amino acid long neuropeptide.<sup>47</sup> VIP is highly conserved in many organisms, including humans and mice.<sup>48</sup> The peptide is present throughout the central and peripheral nervous system, as well as the digestive, respiratory, reproductive, and cardiovascular systems.<sup>46</sup> The main VIP receptors are VPAC1, and VPAC2 are also expressed in immune cells such as activated T cells. VIP is also produced by T cells, B cells, other immune cells, and proinflammatory cytokines including tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$ , interleukin (IL)-6 and IL-1 $\beta$ .<sup>48</sup>

Activation of VIPR on immune cells appears regulatory, as it inhibits activation and proliferation while promoting the generation of Tregs and Th2 cells.<sup>47</sup> VIP has been shown to decrease the clonal expansion and cytokine production of CD3/CD28-activated primary human T cells in a dose-dependent manner. It does so via cell cycle arrest, preventing exit from G<sub>0</sub> and G<sub>1</sub> into the S phase.<sup>48</sup> This evidence supports that VIP has an immunoregulatory function.

The overexpression of VIP and VIPR has been shown in multiple cancers and is implicated in promoting the growth and metastases of tumors.<sup>46</sup> Research from Ravindranathan et al. (Figure 4) shows VIP overexpressed in both human and mouse pancreatic cancer, with human PDAC patients having significantly higher blood VIP levels than healthy volunteers. In this research, inhibiting VIP signaling using a novel and potent VIPR antagonist peptide promoted T cell activation, and resulting antitumor effects were suggested to be T cell dependent<sup>46</sup>.



Figure 4: VIP is overexpressed in pancreatic cancer<sup>46</sup>.

Targeting VIP thus offers great potential to overcome the roadblocks in treatment for PDAC, as it may be able to increase immune infiltration of the tumor for further ICB treatment.

## 1.6. Engineering Armored CAR T Cells to Secrete VIPR Antagonist

#### **1.6.1 Goals of the VIP Project**

In this project, I investigate armored CAR T cells engineered by the Rafiq Lab that should secrete a novel and potent VIPR antagonist, which has the amino acid sequence KPRRPYTDNYTRLRKQMAVKKYLNLILN. The lab has shown that this engineered CAR T cell was functionally better than CAR T cells that do not secrete a VIPR antagonist. However, functional differences do not by themselves confirm that the peptide is secreted. Without other measures of validation, we cannot disprove the possibility that the peptide is not being secreted and instead acting on the cell from the inside. Therefore, I set out to confirm that the antagonist is secreted from CAR T cells. To achieve this goal, I used

a CAR construct that can secrete the VIPR antagonist attached to Gaussia Luciferase (Gluc). We chose Gaussia Luciferase because it does not depend on ATP for its luminescent properties. Instead, Gaussia Luciferase uses Coelenterazine as a substrate, oxidizing it into Coelenteramide and emitting luminescence at 475 nm (Figure 5). This feature allows us to detect the luciferase in the extracellular space<sup>31</sup>.



Figure 5: Reaction between Gaussia Luciferase and Coelenterazine to form Coelenteramide.<sup>49,50</sup>

Additionally, though the AntVIPR peptide alone, at 4kDa, is very small and challenging to visualize by western blot, Gaussia Luciferase is 18.2 kDa, allowing it to be more easily visualized (Figure 6). The antVIP-Gluc-secreting CAR construct therefore acts as a tool for the indirect confirmation of the secretion and characterization of the VIPR antagonist, as the Gluc and VIPR cell lines share all the same properties aside from genetic engineering for the addition of Gluc to the peptide.



Figure 6: AntVIPR-08 structure and binding domain (top) (Waller Lab, unpublished data), AntVIPR-08-Gluc peptide size comparison (bottom) (illustrated through BioRender).

Therefore, we hypothesize that our AntVIPR-08-Gluc CAR construct secretes the functional antagonist bound to Gaussia Luciferase and that this antagonist can bind to VPAC1 or VPAC2 on T cells. The hypothesis is confirmed through two aims. The first aim is to validate through the Gaussia-expressing cell line that the antagonist is secreted. The second aim uses the same Gluc cell population to test whether the antagonist binds to T cells.



# 1.6.2 Designing the AntVIPR-08-Gluc Construct

#### Figure 7: Map for AntVIPR-08-Gluc construct.

The AntVIPR-08-Gluc secreting CAR construct (Figure 7) was previously engineered in the Rafig lab using techniques of molecular cloning. The construct map illustrates the DNA sequences that code for each part of the CAR. The hCD28 signal peptide (hCD8SP) sequence is derived from CD28, and it codes for the signal peptide that directs the CAR to the cell surface. Signal peptides direct the pathway of a nascent peptide through a cell, deciding the modification pathway, and, in part, the types of modifications it receives<sup>51</sup>. The next sequence codes for the 4H11 scFv heavy and light chains. 4H11 is specific to the antigen MUC-16, which is present on PDAC tumor cells<sup>52,53</sup>. The sequence is then followed by the CD28 transmembrane domain and activation domain. Finally, the sequence for the CAR codes for the hCD3z costimulatory domain and is then stopped with P2A, which is a ribosomal skipping sequence. The construct next codes for secretion using the IL-2 signal peptide sequence. IL-2 is a cytokine that is secreted from T cells that increases proliferation and activity of T and B cells<sup>54</sup>. Using the signal peptide sequence from IL-2 thus directs the following peptide to be secreted from the cell. This property is important, as the rest of the sequence codes for the AntVIPR peptide. The peptide sequence begins with coding for the AntVIPR peptide itself, followed by the Histidine tag

sequence, which is important for protein purification using Ni-NTA. It is finally followed by the Gaussia luciferase sequence.

To make this construct, SFG-4H1128z-antVIPR08 backbone was double digested and Gibson assembly was performed with an antVIPR08-Gluc-containing gBlock.



Figure 8: Gel electrophoresis results for colony PCR of the AntVIPR-08-Gluc construct, expected bands(left) and actual bands(right). Two chosen colonies for MidiPrep are indicated in red. (Data produced by Naeman Mahmood)

The ligated product was then transformed into E coli and DNA was isolated with a MidiPrep Kit. Digestion, ligation, and transformation were validated through gel electrophoresis (Figure 8). Sanger sequencing confirmed the results of which indicated that we engineered the correct sequence. With this construct, I was able to perform the following experiments.

# 2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.1. Experimental Conditions

All experiments were carried out with four conditions of cell populations, generally managed with long-term 293galv9 packaging cells. The cells were split biweekly at either 1:5 or 1:10 to maintain a healthy growth phase.

- 293galv9-Empty: Construct does not encode a CAR and does not secrete compounds.
- 293galv9-4H1128z: Construct encodes a second-generation CAR. Does not secrete compounds.
- 293galv9-4H1128z-AntVIPR08: Construct encodes a second-generation CAR and secretes AntVIPR peptide.
- 293galv9-4H1128z-AntVIPR08-Gluc: Construct encodes a second-generation
  CAR and secretes AntVIPR peptide bound to Gaussia Luciferase.

The empty and 4H1128z conditions are intended as negative controls in the following experiments.

#### 2.2. Transfection into H29 and Transduction into 293galv9

In the Rafiq Lab, H29 cells are used to take up a desired construct and transiently express it. For safety, constructs used contain two out of three domains necessary for retroviral production, and H29 cells contain the third domain. With a CaCl<sub>2</sub> kit, H29 cells can be transiently transfected with the plasmid to produce retrovirus that can then be used to transduce long-term 293galv9 cells<sup>31,55</sup>.

To transfect the H29 short-term packaging cells, DNA was added to ddH<sub>2</sub>O and vortexed with CaCl<sub>2</sub>. Addition of 500uL of 2X HEPES-Buffered Saline (HBS) was added dropwise while vortexing. The mixture was incubated at room temperature for 20 minutes. Media of H29 cells was aspirated, then the prepared transfection mixture was added dropwise. 8mL DMEM+10%FBS was added on the side of the plate, and the plate was placed in an incubator overnight.

To transduce 293galv9 cells, the 293galv9s were plated on a 10cm dish. Overnight, 24 hours after plating 293galv9 cells, supernatant was collected with a 10cc syringe from the H29 plate and filtered using a 0.45 $\mu$ m filter into a 15mL tube. Polybrene was added at 800 $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ L. Supernatant was aspirated from the 293galv9 cells, and the filtered H29 supernatant with polybrene was added to the 293galv9s. Media was replaced on H29s. The process of filtering H29 supernatant, adding polybrene, and adding the mixture to 293galv9s was repeated after another 24 hours (t=48h). The H29s were then discarded. At t=72h, the supernatant on the 293galv9 cells was changed to DMEM+10%FBS.

#### 2.3. Generation of CAR T Cells

To generate CAR T cells, T cells from different donors were retrieved from liquid nitrogen storage and resuspended in RPMI media at 3e6 cells/mL in a flask and activated with 2ug/ml PHA and 100IU/mL IL-2 for two days. Media on the 293galv9 packaging cells was changed from DMEM to RPMI. RPMI was used because it is standard media for T cells<sup>56</sup>, to which the 293galv9 supernatant will be added. Days 3-5 consist of transduction of the T cells with the viral supernatant of each 293galv9 condition. 293galv9-4H1128z, 293galv9-AntVIPR-08, and 293galv9-AntVIPR-08-Gluc viral supernatants were passed

through a 0.45µm filter onto a retronectin-coated plate. Retronectin is a fragment of recombinant human fibronectin that binds T cells and increases the efficiency of retroviral transduction<sup>57</sup>. T cells were then collected from the flask, counted, and resuspended at 3E6cells/mL with 100IU/ml IL-2 supplementation. Then 1mL of the cells was added to each of the three supernatants on retronectin-coated plates. The plate was then "spinoculated" in a centrifuge at 3000rpm for one hour at 30C. RPMI was replaced on the 293galv9 cells, and this process was repeated on days 4 and 5. The CAR T cells were stored at 37C overnight for two more days to rest and transduction was measured on day 7. Transductions of 293galv9-4H1128z, 293galv9-AntVIPR-08, and 293galv9-AntVIPR-08-Gluc were all stained with an idiotype CAR antibody conjugated to Fluorescein Isothiocyanate (226G-FITC)<sup>58</sup>, which targets the single chain variable fragments in our anti-Muc16 CAR. The cells were stained for one hour and compared with an untransduced condition as the negative control. Transduction was then measured on a Cytek Aurora flow cytometer.

#### 2.4. Validating Peptide Secretion Through Luminescence Assay

Transduced T cells were generated in the following conditions: 4H1128z CAR, 4H1128z-AntVIPR-08 CAR, and 4H11-AntVIPR-08-Gluc CAR. Two replicates were run of the experiment. Cells were resuspended in RPMI in a 6-well plate at 1E6cells/well in 2mL. The plate was allowed to incubate overnight. In order to prevent cell uptake from sampling of the supernatant, the plates were then centrifuged at 1800rpm for 3 minutes. A sample of 20uL was collected and plated in 3 wells each for each condition. Condition samples were mixed with 50uL each of 1:100 coelenterazine solution according to manufacturer's protocol. Luminescence was measured on a Biotek Synergy plate reader at 475nm. The 4H11 CAR and AntVIPR-08 CAR are both negative controls in this assay due to their inability to luminesce in the presence of Coelentarazine. Only Gaussia Luciferase should be able to emit luminescence, so the AntVIPR-08-Gluc CAR is the experimental condition here.

#### 2.5. Using Luminescence to Detect Binding

293galv9 packaging cells for the 4H, AntVIPR-08, and AntVIPR-08-Gluc condition were counted, resuspended in RPMI at 1E6cells/mL, and added to a 12-well plate overnight. Meanwhile, PBMCs were thawed and resuspended in RPMI, FBS, and IL-2 overnight. At t=24, supernatant from each condition was added respectively to each well of T cells and allowed to incubate for 1 hour. The cells were then collected in FACS tubes and washed 3x with 2mL PBS through centrifugation at 1800rpm for 3 minutes. T-cell pellets were then resuspended in 60µL RPMI. Afterward, each condition was added to 3 wells of a 96well plate, then mixed with the coelenterazine working solution to be measured for luminescence on a Biotek Synergy plate reader. Luminescence was measured at t=5d. This experiment is designed to test binding through luminescence. Since the Gaussia Luciferase is attached to the AntVIPR-08 peptide, if the peptide is able to bind to the VPAC receptors on T cells, then it should luminesce through the reduction of coelenterazine. The triple washing step ensures that any Gaussia Luciferase in the supernatant is completely washed off so that the only luminescence measured must come from AntVIPR-08-Gluc bound to T cells in the media. The AntVIPR-08 and 4H cells should

not luminesce as they do not have Gaussia. The experimental population is then the AntVIPR-08-Gluc, which will only luminesce if it is bound to T cells through the attached AntVIPR-08.

#### 2.6. Nickel Purification and Western Blot

Supernatant was collected from empty, AntVIPR-08, and AntVIPR-08-Gluc 293galv9 cells. Both AntVIPR-08 and AntVIPR-08-Gluc proteins are fused to a His tag, allowing for binding to Nickel. Nickel bead slurry was washed on a in three tubes on a magnetic stand through rinses with equilibration buffer, containing NaPO<sub>4</sub>, NaCl, Tween-20, and 30mM Imidazole. Each supernatant was then added to each of the three tubes of nickel bead slurry and diluted with equilibration buffer. The solution was then vortexed and incubated with the bead slurry for one hour. Following the incubation, the protein-bead solution was washed two times with wash buffer, containing the same ingredients as equilibration buffer, which contains NaPO<sub>4</sub>, NaCl, and 250mM Imidazole.

Purification was followed by western blot. For each population, 30uL of eluted protein solution was loaded in the gel, flanked by 15uL of Kaleidoscope ladder on each side, and Posi-tag opposite of one ladder. The gel was run for 1 hour at 100 volts. After electrophoresis, the gel was transferred to a PVDF membrane over 1 hour at 50 volts at 4C and blocked overnight in 5% blocking buffer. After blocking, the blot was incubated in 1:10000 rabbit anti-His antibody overnight, then incubated with 1:5000 HRP-conjugated goat anti-rabbit antibody. The antibody was detected using Pierce ECL western blot substrate<sup>59</sup>. A solution was made using 2mL of 1:1 peroxide solution and luminol

enhancer, in which the blot was incubated for two minutes. The blot was then removed, placed in an Xray cassette, and imaged manually for 5 minutes.

The western blot contained 293galv9-AntVIPR-08 supernatant as a negative control. While the VIPR line should have the antagonist in the supernatant, which contains a His tag and can be purified through the nickel beads and magnetic stand, the protein is expected to be too small to appear on a western blot, weighing about 4kDa. Gaussia Luciferase is larger, at 18.3kDa, so a band should be expected at around 26kDa with the added weight of AntVIPR-08 and His-tag. Thus, the 293galv9-AntVIPR-08-Gluc supernatant acts as the experimental condition in this experiment, with a correctly sized band confirming the correct compound is being secreted.



# 3. RESULTS

Figure 9: AntVIPR-08 (left) and AntVIPR-08-Gluc (right) constructs transduce T cells.

The transduction of 4H1128z-AntVIPR-08 and 4H1128z-AntVIPR-08-Gluc conditions (red; Figure 9), overlaid on an untransduced population (blue; Figure 9). Both conditions

showed FITC+ cells compared to the negative control. This data supports that 293galv9 constructs were successful in transducing human primary T cells.



# Figure 10: AntVIPR-Gluc antagonist is secreted by 4H1128z-AntVIPR-08-Gluc CAR T cells and binds to other T cells.

For the secretion assay (Figure 10, left), each sample was plated in three technical replicates. Two CAR T cell biological donors were run (n=2) for the experiment. Therefore, a total of 6 data points is plotted. The luminescence of 4H1128z-AntVIPR-08-Gluc is statistically significantly higher than both 4H1128z and 4H1128z-AntVIPR-08, suggesting that there is a larger amount of Gaussia Luciferase present in the extracellular matrix. The binding assay (Figure 10, right) was also plated in 3 technical replicates each, for two biological replicates. 4H1128z-AntVIPR-08-Gluc binding condition had greater

luminescence than the both 4H1128z and 4H1128z-AntVIPR-08 supernatant, suggesting Gluc was bound to T cells in the sample.



# Figure 11: Western blot bands indicate peptide of the same expected weight as AntVIPR-08-Gluc.

Samples for western blot was electrophoresed on a precast gradient gel from 4-25% to optimize separation of proteins, as increasing polyacrylamide concentrations in a gel allow for more precise detection of small proteins<sup>60</sup>. The expected size of Gaussia Luciferase is 18.3kDa, AntVIPR-08 is 4kDa, and AntVIPR-08-Gluc is 24kDa.

#### 4. Discussion

#### 4.1. Transduction of CAR T cells

The transduction results showed a positive population for FITC on both AntVIPR-08 and AntVIPR-08-Gluc conditions. For a transduction, we use an untransduced negative control to observe the baseline reading of fluorescence. Furthermore, one can quantify transduction by taking a percentage of cells that exceed the negative control's reading over the cells that do not. Any fluorescence reading exceeding the negative control's measurement suggests a binding of 226G-FITC to CARs on transduced cell surfaces. If no reading is observed that exceeds that of the unstained, it would mean that transduction did not occur. Here, both AntVIPR-08 and AntVIPR-08-Gluc show higher measurements of FITC than the untransduced control. Therefore, the data suggests that the construct can transduce T cells, and the binding domain is detectable on the surface of the CAR. While the transduction was slightly lower for the AntVIPR-08-Gluc condition, this is likely the result of the AntVIPR-08-Gluc cell population being a newer line that was not singlecell cloned, which initially demonstrated difficulties in adhering and proliferating during the time of CAR T cell production. This issue was likely coupled with the inherently lower capabilities of newer cell lines to transduce CAR T cells. Future measurements will be performed over time to check for improved transduction in the AntVIPR-08-Gluc cell line. Furthermore, the transduction was only run on one donor. Primary T cells can vary in their ability to be transduced by retroviruses from 293galv9 cells due to biological differences.

Running transductions of 293galv9-AntVIPR-08-Gluc supernatant with more than one donor at once may provide a better idea of the ability of the construct to transduce cells.

#### 4.2. Luminescence Assays

The luminescence assay measurements found higher luminescence in the AntVIPR-08-Gluc condition for the secretion assay. The luminescence assays served as a first step to indirectly validate the secretion and binding of the AntVIPR peptide. In measuring luminescence of the supernatant of CAR T cells, luminescence is not expected in 293galv9-AntVIPR-08 or 293galv9-4H1128z supernatants. Presence of luminescence in these conditions would most likely be related to experimenter error: either the negative control would have been transduced with the AntVIPR-08-Gluc construct, or supernatant from the AntVIPR-08-Gluc condition could have contaminated the negative control supernatant. In the inverse scenario, if no luminescence is detected in the AntVIPR-08-Gluc supernatant, it would suggest that the cells do not secrete Gaussia luciferase conjugated to AntVIPR-08 peptide. In the secretion assay, there was a significant difference in luminescence between the Gluc condition and the two other conditions. This difference indicates that the CAR T cells that we engineered successfully secrete the AntVIPR-08 peptide attached to Gaussia Luciferase. A possible limitation exists where Gluc-containing cells could be taken up along with the supernatant, which would provide a false positive for the presence of Gluc in the supernatant. However, the possibility of this circumstance occurring was reduced through the centrifugation step prior to sampling the supernatant. All cells should be collected at the bottom of the plate post-centrifugation,

meaning sampled supernatant would contain only AntVIPR-08-Gluc peptide. Only two donors were used for the luminescence assay, so a future goal is to run this experiment with more donors to increase the number of replicates. Furthermore, in addition to centrifugation step prior to sampling the supernatant, we can optimize this experiment by using a 0.45 µm filter to further ensure the removal of any possible cells after sampling the supernatant.

Though the experiment provides evidence about the ability of the cells to secrete AntVIPR-08-Gluc, further information that will help characterize the cells and the peptide for future therapeutic use is still needed. Answers are still required for the rate at which the peptide is secreted, as well as structural stability and rate of degradation. Both values are important to understand how to maintain specific concentrations of antagonist in the extracellular matrix. In a secretion assay, cells could be plated in fresh media and measured at intervals for concentration of AntVIPR-08-Gluc at each time point. For a degradation assay, supernatant containing AntVIPR-08-Gluc can be checked at specific time intervals to measure at what rate the concentration of protein in the supernatant decreases. One way to find these answers is to sample the supernatant at the time points and run them through luminescence assays to check for increasing/decreasing luminescence. However, using a luminescence assay can make it difficult to accurately measure concentration based off luminescence, unless one were to create a standard curve to correlate concentration from luminescence. Furthermore, in measuring degradation, there is a possibility that AntVIPR-08 could be cleaved from Gluc or degrade earlier, which would cause luminescence to appear in the absence of functional peptide. This possibility is due to the likely presence of proteases in tissue culture media<sup>61</sup>. A

23

western blot will also allow for visualization of increases or decreases in protein concentration through the strength of the bands. However, a more direct measurement could be made by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LCMS). LCMS allows for separation of multiple compounds from a sample through a mobile phase and stationary phase which are opposite in polarity.<sup>62</sup> The separation of the molecules is based on their differing strength of adherence to the stationary phase versus the mobile phase. As the molecules are separated, the machine also runs them through a mass spectrometer.<sup>62</sup> Using LCMS allows for more accurately measuring concentrations through the intensity of the measured peak associated with AntVIPR-08-Gluc. Secretion can be measured through the increase in peak size at each time point, while degradation can be measured through the decrease of the peak size. The mass measurement for the peak allows monitoring for whether the peptide remains intact or separates from Gluc, leading to a more accurate rate of degradation measurement.

#### 4.3. Binding Assay

The luminescence measurements for the binding assay showed significantly higher luminescence for the AntVIPR-08-Gluc condition versus the negative controls. The experiment performed here incubated 293galv9 supernatants with T cells for binding of secreted AntVIPR. The reason 293galv9 cells were chosen over CAR T cells was because of the high volume of cells and secreted compounds in the supernatant. CAR T cells were lower in number due to lower transduction and would not have likely secreted as large of a quantity of VIPR antagonist as the much more proliferated 293galv9 cells. However, inherent to the 293galv9 cells is their ability to also secrete retrovirus to

transduce T cells. While the incubation time was relatively short at 1 hour and did not formally follow the process for manufacturing CAR T cells, there is the possibility that some T cells could have been transduced through retrovirus in the supernatants. The hypothetical transduction would then cause the T cells themselves to manufacture AntVIPR-Gluc, which could cause luminescence leading to a false positive. The magnitude of luminescence in the experiment was large enough that this is unlikely. However, to fully control for any false-positive reading, future experiments should incorporate a reverse transcriptase inhibitor during the incubation step to ensure that no transduction is occurring during the binding step. Further checks to prevent false positive measurements can be taken by centrifuging the cell plates post-incubation to ensure no Gluc-producing cells are taken up with the supernatant. Additionally using a 0.45µm filter with a syringe can most significantly reduce the likelihood of any cells present in measuring of supernatant. Future experiments will also measure luminescence immediately after binding rather than at t=5d.

The binding assay allowed T cells to incubate with the supernatants of 293galv9-4H1128z, 293galv9-AntVIPR-08, and 293galv9-AntVIPR-08-Gluc. By washing away the supernatant with PBS after the incubation period, it was ensured that the only Gaussia species that remain should be bound through the attached AntVIPR to the VIP receptors on the T cells. This experiment accomplishes two goals. If luminescence were detected, it would suggest that AntVIPR-08 can bind to VIPR on T cells, and it also means that Gluc does not significantly hinder the binding interaction between AntVIPR and VIPR. Otherwise, if the Gluc condition does not show luminescence, it could mean that either the antagonist does not bind to T cells or Gaussia luciferase could be hindering the

binding interaction between the antagonist and VIPR on T cells. Structural assays through programs like Alphafold could help to investigate any such complications related to lack of binding. The AntVIPR-08 and 4H11 supernatants both should not lead to luminescence because 293galv9-4H1128z cells do not secrete any compounds, and 293galv9-AntVIPR-08 secretes AntVIPR without Gluc. If there were to be any luminescence on these controls, it is likely contributed to experimenter error that would have let AntVIPR-08 Gluc supernatant contact the negative controls. Because a significantly higher luminescence was observed on the Gaussia condition over the other two conditions, it suggests that binding occurred between secreted AntVIPR and VIPR on the T cells. However, binding of the AntVIPR-08 peptide to the VIPR does not necessarily mean that the peptide can still functionally antagonize the VIPR. The functionality can be tested through a CD69 assay to view T cell activation in the presence of the VIPR antagonists.

#### 4.4. Western Blot

Using western blot is a supplemental method to confirm that the compound being secreted is AntVIPR-Gluc. While it can be indirectly detected in the supernatant using luminescence, visualizing Gaussia luciferase does not equate to visualizing the entire peptide. However, using western blot can help to validate that it is specifically Gaussia Luciferase bound to AntVIPR that is present in the supernatant and is secreted by the cells. Furthermore, using Ni-NTA coated magnetic beads for purification allowed for maximizing concentration of all AntVIPR-Gluc peptides in the supernatant. The total weight of the peptide is approximately 24kDa, which can be visualized on the lower end of the gradient gel used for the western blot. If no AntVIPR-08-Gluc is visualized on the

gel, it may suggest that it is secreted in very small amounts or very slowly. It could also point to experimenter error in the purification step. If bands other than 24kDa are visualized either in the experimental condition or the two negative controls, it may suggest contamination with other proteins, or errors during the magnetic bead purification protocol. We would also be able to visualize whether the AntVIPR-08-Gluc is separated from the antagonist, as the band would appear below 20 kDa. This western blot showed a strong band present at ~24kDa, which is the expected size of the AntVIPR-Gluc peptide. More replicates of the western blot will be needed to demonstrate reproducibility that the correct protein is being secreted and is present in the supernatant. The combination of evidence from the western blot results alongside the luminescence assays is a strong indicator that the AntVIPR-08-Gluc CAR T cells and 293galv9 cells both secrete the VIPR antagonist bound to Gaussia luciferase, and that this antagonist stays conjugated with Gaussia post-secretion and during binding.

#### 4.5. Future Directions

The experiments provide positive support for the hypothesis that AntVIPR-Gluc can be detected through luminescence assays in both the extracellular matrix and bound to receptors. An even more promising finding is the observation that AntVIPR can bind to the receptors even while conjugated to Gaussia luciferase. This property opens new doors of versatility for the usage of our AntVIPR-Gluc peptide. In future experiments, CAR T cells can be tested not only for functionality in mice, but now also for localization. Using luminescence from Gaussia luciferase, we can visualize where in the body AntVIPR-08-Gluc CAR T cells are acting through measuring luminescence intensities of secreted

peptide antagonist. These experiments can allow us to check for potential on-target offtumor toxicities, as we want targeting only of tumor wmass. The ability to monitor localization is a useful tool to fine-tune the design of our secreting CAR T cell to more accurately target the PDAC TME.

#### 5. Conclusion

The transduction data suggests that CAR T cells can indeed be transduced with the AntVIPR-08-Gluc construct, and the luminescence assays suggest that the AntVIPR-08-Gluc peptide is both secreted by CAR T cells and binds to the VIPR on T cells. The western blot further helped to characterize the peptide. The two goals of this experiment were to validate through the AntVIPR-08-Gluc condition that the antagonist is secreted by engineered cells and that it is capable of binding to the target receptors. The experimental data strongly supports the hypothesis that both events occur, and that the correct peptide is being secreted from the engineered cells. Future experiments may take these results to the next stage and use Gaussia luciferase to better understand in-vivo targeting of the AntVIPR-08-Gluc CAR T cells.

## Bibliography

- (1) Siamof, C. M.; Goel, S.; Cai, W. Moving Beyond the Pillars of Cancer Treatment: Perspectives From Nanotechnology. *Front. Chem.* **2020**, *8*, 598100. https://doi.org/10.3389/fchem.2020.598100.
- (2) Rowshanravan, B.; Halliday, N.; Sansom, D. M. CTLA-4: A Moving Target in Immunotherapy. *Blood* 2018, 131 (1), 58–67. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2017-06-741033.
- (3) Han, Y.; Liu, D.; Li, L. PD-1/PD-L1 Pathway: Current Researches in Cancer. *Am. J. Cancer Res.* **2020**, *10* (3), 727–742.
- (4) *Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in the immunotherapy era* | *Cellular & Molecular Immunology.* https://www.nature.com/articles/s41423-020-00565-9 (accessed 2023-03-28).
- (5) Sterner, R. C.; Sterner, R. M. CAR-T Cell Therapy: Current Limitations and Potential Strategies. *Blood Cancer J.* 2021, *11* (4), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41408-021-00459-7.
- (6) Subklewe, M.; von Bergwelt-Baildon, M.; Humpe, A. Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells: A Race to Revolutionize Cancer Therapy. *Transfus. Med. Hemotherapy* **2019**, *46* (1), 15–24. https://doi.org/10.1159/000496870.
- (7) Bailey, S. R.; Maus, M. V. Gene Editing for Immune Cell Therapies. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **2019**, 37 (12), 1425–1434. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-019-0137-8.
- (8) Sadelain, M.; Rivière, I.; Brentjens, R. Targeting Tumours with Genetically Enhanced T Lymphocytes. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* **2003**, *3*(1), 35–45. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc971.
- Bridgeman, J. S.; Hawkins, R. E.; Hombach, A. A.; Abken, H.; Gilham, D. E. Building Better Chimeric Antigen Receptors for Adoptive T Cell Therapy. *Curr. Gene Ther.* 2010, 10 (2), 77–90. https://doi.org/10.2174/156652310791111001.
- (10) Boomer, J. S.; Green, J. M. An Enigmatic Tail of CD28 Signaling. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* **2010**, *2* (8), a002436. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a002436.
- (11) Krause, A.; Guo, H.-F.; Latouche, J.-B.; Tan, C.; Cheung, N.-K. V.; Sadelain, M. Antigen-Dependent CD28 Signaling Selectively Enhances Survival and Proliferation in Genetically Modified Activated Human Primary T Lymphocytes. *J. Exp. Med.* **1998**, *188* (4), 619–626.
- (12) Maher, J.; Brentjens, R. J.; Gunset, G.; Rivière, I.; Sadelain, M. Human T-Lymphocyte Cytotoxicity and Proliferation Directed by a Single Chimeric TCRzeta /CD28 Receptor. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 2002, 20 (1), 70–75. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt0102-70.
- (13) Imai, C.; Mihara, K.; Andreansky, M.; Nicholson, I. C.; Pui, C.-H.; Geiger, T. L.; Campana, D. Chimeric Receptors with 4-1BB Signaling Capacity Provoke Potent Cytotoxicity against Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Leukemia* 2004, *18* (4), 676– 684. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.leu.2403302.
- (14) Signals through T Cell Receptor-Zeta Chain Alone Are Insufficient to Prime Resting T Lymphocytes. *J. Exp. Med.* **1995**, *181* (5), 1653–1659.

- (15) Rafiq, S.; Hackett, C. S.; Brentjens, R. J. Engineering Strategies to Overcome the Current Roadblocks in CAR T Cell Therapy. *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* 2020, 17(3), 147– 167. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41571-019-0297-y.
- (16) Dudley, M. E.; Wunderlich, J. R.; Robbins, P. F.; Yang, J. C.; Hwu, P.; Schwartzentruber, D. J.; Topalian, S. L.; Sherry, R.; Restifo, N. P.; Hubicki, A. M.; Robinson, M. R.; Raffeld, M.; Duray, P.; Seipp, C. A.; Rogers-Freezer, L.; Morton, K. E.; Mavroukakis, S. A.; White, D. E.; Rosenberg, S. A. Cancer Regression and Autoimmunity in Patients After Clonal Repopulation with Antitumor Lymphocytes. *Science* **2002**, *298* (5594), 850–854. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1076514.
- (17) Lim, W. A.; June, C. H. The Principles of Engineering Immune Cells to Treat Cancer. *Cell* **2017**, *168* (4), 724–740. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.01.016.
- (18) Abbott, R. C.; Cross, R. S.; Jenkins, M. R. Finding the Keys to the CAR: Identifying Novel Target Antigens for T Cell Redirection Immunotherapies. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2020**, *21* (2), 515. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21020515.
- (19) Alnefaie, A.; Albogami, S.; Asiri, Y.; Ahmad, T.; Alotaibi, S. S.; Al-Sanea, M. M.; Althobaiti, H. Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cells: An Overview of Concepts, Applications, Limitations, and Proposed Solutions. *Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol.* 2022, 10.
- (20) Caruso, H. G.; Hurton, L. V.; Najjar, A.; Rushworth, D.; Ang, S.; Olivares, S.; Mi, T.; Switzer, K.; Singh, H.; Huls, H.; Lee, D. A.; Heimberger, A. B.; Champlin, R. E.; Cooper, L. J. N. Tuning Sensitivity of CAR to EGFR Density Limits Recognition of Normal Tissue While Maintaining Potent Anti-Tumor Activity. *Cancer Res.* 2015, 75 (17), 3505–3518. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-0139.
- (21) Liu, X.; Jiang, S.; Fang, C.; Yang, S.; Olalere, D.; Pequignot, E. C.; Cogdill, A. P.; Li, N.; Ramones, M.; Granda, B.; Zhou, L.; Loew, A.; Young, R. M.; June, C. H.; Zhao, Y. Affinity-Tuned ErbB2 or EGFR Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells Exhibit an Increased Therapeutic Index against Tumors in Mice. *Cancer Res.* 2015, *75* (17), 3596–3607. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-0159.
- (22) Wang, K.; Wei, G.; Liu, D. CD19: A Biomarker for B Cell Development, Lymphoma Diagnosis and Therapy. *Exp. Hematol. Oncol.* **2012**, *1* (1), 36. https://doi.org/10.1186/2162-3619-1-36.
- (23) Porter, D. L.; Levine, B. L.; Kalos, M.; Bagg, A.; June, C. H. Chimeric Antigen Receptor–Modified T Cells in Chronic Lymphoid Leukemia. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2011, 365 (8), 725–733. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1103849.
- (24) Schuster, S. J.; Svoboda, J.; Chong, E. A.; Nasta, S. D.; Mato, A. R.; Anak, Ö.; Brogdon, J. L.; Pruteanu-Malinici, I.; Bhoj, V.; Landsburg, D.; Wasik, M.; Levine, B. L.; Lacey, S. F.; Melenhorst, J. J.; Porter, D. L.; June, C. H. Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells in Refractory B-Cell Lymphomas. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2017, 377 (26), 2545–2554. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1708566.
- (25) Neelapu, S. S.; Locke, F. L.; Bartlett, N. L.; Lekakis, L. J.; Miklos, D. B.; Jacobson, C. A.; Braunschweig, I.; Oluwole, O. O.; Siddiqi, T.; Lin, Y.; Timmerman, J. M.; Stiff, P. J.; Friedberg, J. W.; Flinn, I. W.; Goy, A.; Hill, B. T.; Smith, M. R.; Deol, A.; Farooq, U.; McSweeney, P.; Munoz, J.; Avivi, I.; Castro, J. E.; Westin, J. R.; Chavez, J. C.; Ghobadi, A.; Komanduri, K. V.; Levy, R.; Jacobsen, E. D.; Witzig, T. E.; Reagan, P.; Bot, A.; Rossi, J.; Navale, L.; Jiang, Y.; Aycock, J.; Elias, M.; Chang, D.; Wiezorek, J.; Go, W. Y. Axicabtagene Ciloleucel CAR T-Cell Therapy in Refractory Large B-

Cell Lymphoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2017**, 377 (26), 2531–2544. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1707447.

- (26) Tiberghien, P.; Deconinck, E.; Adotevi, O. More on Anti-CD19 CAR T Cells in CNS Diffuse Large-B-Cell Lymphoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2017**, 377 (21), 2101–2102. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc1712460.
- (27) Sun, S.; Hao, H.; Yang, G.; Zhang, Y.; Fu, Y. Immunotherapy with CAR-Modified T Cells: Toxicities and Overcoming Strategies. *J. Immunol. Res.* 2018, 2018, 2386187. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/2386187.
- (28) Rabinovich, G. A.; Gabrilovich, D.; Sotomayor, E. M. IMMUNOSUPPRESSIVE STRATEGIES THAT ARE MEDIATED BY TUMOR CELLS. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **2007**, *25*, 267–296. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.25.022106.141609.
- (29) Anderson, N. M.; Simon, M. C. The Tumor Microenvironment. *Curr. Biol. CB* **2020**, *30* (16), R921–R925. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2020.06.081.
- (30) Ho, W. J.; Jaffee, E. M.; Zheng, L. The Tumour Microenvironment in Pancreatic Cancer — Clinical Challenges and Opportunities. *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* 2020, 17 (9), 527–540. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41571-020-0363-5.
- (31) Rafiq, S.; Yeku, O. O.; Jackson, H. J.; Purdon, T. J.; van Leeuwen, D. G.; Drakes, D. J.; Song, M.; Miele, M. M.; Li, Z.; Wang, P.; Yan, S.; Xiang, J.; Ma, X.; Seshan, V. E.; Hendrickson, R. C.; Liu, C.; Brentjens, R. J. Targeted Delivery of a PD-1-Blocking ScFv by CAR-T Cells Enhances Anti-Tumor Efficacy in Vivo. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **2018**, 36 (9), 847–856. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.4195.
- (32) Tomasik, J.; Jasiński, M.; Basak, G. W. Next Generations of CAR-T Cells New Therapeutic Opportunities in Hematology? *Front. Immunol.* **2022**, *13*.
- (33) Evans, A. N.; Lin, H. K.; Hossian, A. K. M. N.; Rafiq, S. Using Adoptive Cellular Therapy for Localized Protein Secretion. *Cancer J. Sudbury Mass* **2021**, *27*(2), 159– 167. https://doi.org/10.1097/PPO.00000000000510.
- (34) Mahoney, K. M.; Freeman, G. J.; McDermott, D. F. The Next Immune-Checkpoint Inhibitors: PD-1/PD-L1 Blockade in Melanoma. *Clin. Ther.* **2015**, *37* (4), 764–782. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinthera.2015.02.018.
- (35) Orth, M.; Metzger, P.; Gerum, S.; Mayerle, J.; Schneider, G.; Belka, C.; Schnurr, M.; Lauber, K. Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma: Biological Hallmarks, Current Status, and Future Perspectives of Combined Modality Treatment Approaches. *Radiat. Oncol.* **2019**, *14* (1), 141. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13014-019-1345-6.
- (36) Cancer of the Pancreas Cancer Stat Facts. SEER. https://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/pancreas.html (accessed 2023-03-10).
- (37) Werner, J.; Combs, S. E.; Springfeld, C.; Hartwig, W.; Hackert, T.; Büchler, M. W. Advanced-Stage Pancreatic Cancer: Therapy Options. *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* **2013**, *10* (6), 323–333. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrclinonc.2013.66.
- (38) Gillen, S.; Schuster, T.; Meyer Zum Büschenfelde, C.; Friess, H.; Kleeff, J. Preoperative/Neoadjuvant Therapy in Pancreatic Cancer: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Response and Resection Percentages. *PLoS Med.* 2010, 7 (4), e1000267. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1000267.
- (39) Young, K.; Hughes, D. J.; Cunningham, D.; Starling, N. Immunotherapy and Pancreatic Cancer: Unique Challenges and Potential Opportunities. *Ther. Adv. Med. Oncol.* **2018**, *10*, 1758835918816281. https://doi.org/10.1177/1758835918816281.

- (40) Murakami, T.; Hiroshima, Y.; Matsuyama, R.; Homma, Y.; Hoffman, R. M.; Endo, I. Role of the Tumor Microenvironment in Pancreatic Cancer. *Ann. Gastroenterol. Surg.* 2019, 3 (2), 130–137. https://doi.org/10.1002/ags3.12225.
- (41) Karagiannis, G. S.; Poutahidis, T.; Erdman, S. E.; Kirsch, R.; Riddell, R. H.; Diamandis, E. P. Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts Drive the Progression of Metastasis through Both Paracrine and Mechanical Pressure on Cancer Tissue. *Mol. Cancer Res. MCR* **2012**, *10* (11), 1403–1418. https://doi.org/10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-12-0307.
- (42) Whatcott, C. J.; Han, H.; Posner, R. G.; Hostetter, G.; Von Hoff M, D. Targeting the Tumor Microenvironment in Cancer: Why Hyaluronidase Deserves a Second Look. *Cancer Discov.* 2011, 1 (4), 291–296. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-11-0136.
- (43) Giancotti, F. G.; Ruoslahti, E. Integrin Signaling. *Science* **1999**, *285* (5430), 1028–1032. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.285.5430.1028.
- (44) Bailey, P.; Chang, D. K.; Forget, M.-A.; Lucas, F. A. S.; Alvarez, H. A.; Haymaker, C.; Chattopadhyay, C.; Kim, S.-H.; Ekmekcioglu, S.; Grimm, E. A.; Biankin, A. V.; Hwu, P.; Maitra, A.; Roszik, J. Exploiting the Neoantigen Landscape for Immunotherapy of Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma. *Sci. Rep.* 2016, *6*, 35848. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep35848.
- (45) Schumacher, T. N.; Schreiber, R. D. Neoantigens in Cancer Immunotherapy. *Science* **2015**, *348* (6230), 69–74. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa4971.
- (46) Ravindranathan, S.; Passang, T.; Li, J.-M.; Wang, S.; Dhamsania, R.; Ware, M. B.; Zaidi, M. Y.; Zhu, J.; Cardenas, M.; Liu, Y.; Gumber, S.; Robinson, B.; Sen-Majumdar, A.; Zhang, H.; Chandrakasan, S.; Kissick, H.; Frey, A. B.; Thomas, S. N.; El-Rayes, B. F.; Lesinski, G. B.; Waller, E. K. Targeting Vasoactive Intestinal Peptide-Mediated Signaling Enhances Response to Immune Checkpoint Therapy in Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma. *Nat. Commun.* 2022, *13* (1), 6418. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-34242-4.
- (47) Delgado, M.; Ganea, D. Vasoactive Intestinal Peptide: A Neuropeptide with Pleiotropic Immune Functions. *Amino Acids* **2013**, *45* (1), 10.1007/s00726-011-1184–1188. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00726-011-1184-8.
- (48) Iwasaki, M.; Akiba, Y.; Kaunitz, J. D. Recent Advances in Vasoactive Intestinal Peptide Physiology and Pathophysiology: Focus on the Gastrointestinal System. *F1000Research* 2019, 8, F1000 Faculty Rev-1629. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.18039.1.
- (49) Gaussia and Cypridina Luciferases Ultrasensitive secreted reporters and their use in dual assays | NEB. https://www.neb.com/tools-and-resources/featurearticles/gaussia-and-cypridina-luciferases-ultrasensitive-secreted-reporters-andtheir-use-in-dual-assays (accessed 2023-02-25).
- (50) Hart, R. C.; Stempel, K. E.; Boyer, P. D.; Cormier, M. J. Mechanism of the Enzyme-Catalyzed Bioluminescent Oxidation of Coelenterate-Type Luciferin. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **1978**, *81* (3), 980–986. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-291X(78)91447-X.
- (51) Blobel, G.; Sabatini, D. D. Ribosome-Membrane Interaction in Eukaryotic Cells. In *Biomembranes: Volume 2*; Manson, L. A., Ed.; Springer US: Boston, MA, 1971; pp 193–195. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4684-3330-2\_16.

- (52) Koneru, M.; Purdon, T. J.; Spriggs, D.; Koneru, S.; Brentjens, R. J. IL-12 Secreting Tumor-Targeted Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells Eradicate Ovarian Tumors in Vivo. Oncoimmunology 2015, 4 (3), e994446.
   https://doi.org/10.4161/2162402X.2014.994446.
- (53) Muniyan, S.; Haridas, D.; Chugh, S.; Rachagani, S.; Lakshmanan, I.; Gupta, S.; Seshacharyulu, P.; Smith, L. M.; Ponnusamy, M. P.; Batra, S. K. MUC16 Contributes to the Metastasis of Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma through Focal Adhesion Mediated Signaling Mechanism. *Genes Cancer* **2016**, 7 (3–4), 110–124. https://doi.org/10.18632/genesandcancer.104.
- (54) Definition of interleukin-2 NCI Dictionary of Cancer Terms NCI. https://www.cancer.gov/publications/dictionaries/cancer-terms/def/interleukin-2 (accessed 2023-03-29).
- (55) Optimized T-cell receptor-mimic chimeric antigen receptor T cells directed toward the intracellular Wilms Tumor 1 antigen - PMC. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5495623/ (accessed 2023-03-29).
- (56) *RPMI 1640 Medium*. https://www.thermofisher.com/order/catalog/product/11875093 (accessed 2023-03-29).
- (57) *RetroNectin reagent*. https://www.takarabio.com/products/gene-function/t-cell-transduction-and-culture/retronectin-reagent (accessed 2023-03-29).
- (58) Johnson, M. FITC/Fluorescein. Mater. Methods 2022.
- (59) *Pierce™ ECL Western Blotting Substrate.* https://www.thermofisher.com/order/catalog/product/32106 (accessed 2023-03-29).
- (60) Western blot SDS-PAGE: Novus Biologicals. https://www.novusbio.com/support/support-by-application/western-blot-sds-page (accessed 2023-03-25).
- (61) Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (EDTA-Free, 200X in DMSO). https://www.apexbt.com/protease-inhibitor-cocktail-edta-free-200x-in-dmso.html (accessed 2023-03-29).
- (62) Liquid Chromatography Mass Spectrometry (LC-MS) Information US. https://www.thermofisher.com/us/en/home/industrial/mass-spectrometry/massspectrometry-learning-center/liquid-chromatography-mass-spectrometry-lc-msinformation.html (accessed 2023-03-25).